Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/cbpa



## Review Perspective – Exercise in fish: 50+ years and going strong $\stackrel{\text{tr}}{\sim}$

## James D. Kieffer \*

Department of Biology & Canadian Rivers Institute, University of New Brunswick, Saint John, N.B. E2L 4L5 Canada

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 September 2009 Received in revised form 3 February 2010 Accepted 4 February 2010 Available online 16 February 2010

Keywords: Fish Swimming Exercise

## Contents

## ABSTRACT

Swimming in fish has garnered the attention of researchers for more than 50 years. Research has focused on the mechanisms that fish utilize during exercise, fuel use patterns, recovery dynamics and the effects of abiotic and biotic factors on fish exercise physiology. Research direction has been influenced both by technology (e.g., availability of telemetry devices and access to swim flumes) and environmental changes (e.g., global warming and pollution). In addition, researchers have begun to examine the interplay between swimming physiology and behaviour. As part of the 50th Anniversary of Comparative Physiology and Biochemistry, this perspective examines the history of fish exercise research, and some of the individuals who have made significant contributions.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

1.	Introduction	163		
	1.1. Types of swimming	164		
	1.2. Early influences	164		
	1.3. The Great Division – pioneers of sustained and exhaustive exercise research in fish	164		
	1.4. The importance of swimming tests: what we know and where we are headed			
	1.5. Swimming tests and validation – what's new?	164		
2.	Physiology and biochemistry of exhaustive exercise in fish	165		
3.	1950s and 1960s	165		
	1980s and 1990s — an explosive period			
	4.1. Exhaustive exercise: significant contributions			
	4.2. Applied exercise physiology	166		
	2000 and beyond			
	Where do we go from here?			
Acknowledgements				
	References			

## 1. Introduction

Whether it is their incredible ability to deal with high and low temperatures, hypoxia, or their capacity to swim at extremely high speeds, fish have provided researchers with an extremely robust model to study basic physiological processes. As fish utilize various strategies (e.g., behavioural, molecular and physiological) to survive challenging environments, researchers studying the physiology of fish have also developed new methods to study these fascinating

Tel.: +1 506 648 5778.

E-mail address: ikieffer@unb.ca.

creatures. What researchers did 50 years ago has shaped our current thought, and the questions we ask today will shape how our successors undertake new and exciting research. Many journals, including Comparative Physiology and Biochemistry, have enabled researchers to publish excellent original and review articles on the subject of fish exercise physiology and biochemistry.

Over the past 50+ years, researchers have published a large body of physiological research on swimming and exercise capacities of fish (see Beamish, 1978; Milligan, 1996; Kieffer, 2000; Farrell, 2007). For those working in the field, it is apparent that much of our current knowledge is the result of the initial contributions of several Canadian scientists. In this regard, I will highlight how these researchers have contributed to the fields of fish exercise physiology and performance. Since there are many reviews on this subject (Wood, 1991; Milligan,

 $<sup>\</sup>stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \rm triangle}{\to}\,$  This Perspective is a contribution to the Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Fiftieth Anniversary Celebration.

<sup>1095-6433/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.02.009

1996; Kieffer, 2000), my objectives are not to provide an extensive analysis, but rather to highlight some of the major findings/directions over the past 50+years. Moreover, I will describe general areas of research, rather than provide a quantitative approach to the study of fish exercise. I end the perspective by suggesting some areas that require further study.

## 1.1. Types of swimming

The past 50-60 years have been fruitful with regard to fish swimming physiology and performance studies. Several comprehensive reviews on this subject have been published in this journal (Milligan, 1996; Davison, 1997; Kieffer, 2000; Plaut, 2001; Bernal et al., 2001; Nelson et al., 2002) and elsewhere (e.g., Wood, 1991; Randall and Brauner, 1991; McKenzie et al., 2007) for several groups of fish. For various practical (e.g., availability of various sizes of fish, easy to hold in the lab) and physiological reasons (e.g., considered high performance fish), most of the research on the swimming capacity and performance in fish has focused on salmonids (Moyes and West, 1995), although this has changed over the past couple of decades. Levels of swimming performance in fish are traditionally defined in terms of duration of swimming and intensity in which the fish swims (reviewed in Beamish, 1978). Researchers have categorized swimming in fish into three broad categories: sustained, prolonged, and burst-type swimming (see Brett, 1964; Beamish, 1978; Hammer, 1995; Plaut, 2001, for details). Aerobic metabolism powers sustained exercise, and includes those speeds maintained for long periods of time (typically greater than 200 min) without resulting in muscular fatigue (Beamish, 1978). Prolonged exercise lasts between two and 200 min and, depending on the swimming speed, ends in exhaustion. A third type of exercise, intense burst activity, relies almost exclusively on anaerobic metabolism within the white muscle and lasts for short periods of time (typically less than 20 s). This type of exercise typically results in a significant reduction of intracellular energy supplies and in an accumulation of waste products (Kieffer, 2000).

### 1.2. Early influences

Although several key Canadian researchers laid important groundwork for our understanding of swimming in fish (see below, Black, 1957a,b,c; Brett, 1964), the pioneering work of F.E.J. Fry (1947) "Effects of the Environment on Animal Activity" provided some of the initial framework of how to examine the problem of exercise in fish (scope for activity, for example). In particular, Fry wrote about the importance of controlling factors (namely temperature) and the relationship between "how the animal works" (e.g., metabolism) and "what the organism does" (e.g., activity/ swimming). In his seminal work, Fry also wrote about the importance of previous experience of the organism (e.g., training) in relation to the factor of the environment under consideration.

# 1.3. The Great Division – pioneers of sustained and exhaustive exercise research in fish

The importance of Fry's work on temperature and metabolism cannot be overstated, and this early work paved the way for future work on both exhaustive (anaerobic) and sustained (aerobic) exercise. The research of two eminent fish physiologists, J. R. Brett and E. C. Black, emerged several years following the publication of Fry's seminal work. Black worked extensively on lactic acid production in fishes, most notably salmonids (Black, 1955, 1957a,b,c) and Brett's work focused on swimming and aerobic metabolism (Brett, 1964). Around that time, P.W. Hochachka began working on the effect of training on "oxygen debt" and metabolic fuels in trout (Hochachka, 1961).

Brett (1964) focused on the metabolic costs of swimming in fish, with a strong emphasis on temperature relationships and aerobic metabolism in salmon (reviewed in Brett, 1995). The development of the Brett swim flume and the theory behind its use would prove pivotal to the development of the critical swimming test (UCrit test; see below). The roadmaps that Brett established have become instrumental in setting a direction for much of the work of others, including Hockachka, Stevens, Wood, Jones, Randall, Boutilier, Kolok, Nelson, Claireaux, Steffensen, Tufts and Farrell and all of their students and collaborators (the list could fill many pages!).

# 1.4. The importance of swimming tests: what we know and where we are headed

Much of our understanding of the aerobic swimming capacity of fish has resulted from the development of swim flumes/respirometers. Although swim flumes were used by others (e.g., Blazka et al., 1960), Brett developed some of the initial swimming tests used to assess aerobic swimming capacities in fish (Brett, 1964). The "critical swimming test" (UCrit) is still the tool used most widely by researchers to evaluate aerobic swimming performance in fish. This test measures the highest sustainable swimming speed achieved by a fish. Various reviews found within this journal (e.g., Hammer, 1995; Plaut, 2001) and elsewhere (e.g., Beamish, 1978) have described the methodology/history of this test. Various researchers have critically evaluated the methodology involved with this test (e.g., magnitude and duration of velocity increments used in the test, repeatability of individuals, Kolok, 1992; Plaut, 2001; Hammer, 1995; Kolok, 1999) and its relevance beyond physiological study (Plaut, 2001). Despite some methodological considerations, UCrit tests remain popular as a means of evaluating the effects of different factors (e.g., fish size, temperature, salinity, dissolved gases and pollutants; see Beamish, 1978; Randall and Brauner, 1991; Kieffer and Cooke, 2009) on fish swimming ability and metabolic costs of swimming at UCrit. A large literature exists on species-specific UCrits in fish (e.g., Beamish, 1978; Peake, 2004; McKenzie et al., 2007; Kieffer and Cooke, 2009), which has often tempted researchers to categorize fish performance based on UCrit values.

Although many studies have utilized critical swimming tests to assess performance, Farrell (2008) has contributed to some of our most recent and thorough understanding of the relationship(s) between critical swimming speeds, temperature, metabolic costs and cardiac function in fish (reviewed in Farrell, 1996, 2007, 2008). Embedded within this research has been the investigation of repeat performance in fish (Jain et al., 1998; Farrell et al., 1998; MacNutt et al., 2004; Peake and Farrell, 2004). That is, whether or not fish can repeat a critical swimming test following a brief rest between tests (i.e., Ucrit vs. UCrit2). Various studies by A.P. Farrell's group have identified some of the rate-limiting factors (e.g., high temperature) on the recovery processes following aerobic swimming. Specifically, their work confirmed that for some salmonid fish a recovery period of 40 min between UCrit tests is sufficient for routine oxygen consumption levels to return to normal. Originally, it was suggested that a longer period (i.e., 4 h) was required (Brett, 1964) for full metabolic recovery between UCrit tests.

#### 1.5. Swimming tests and validation – what's new?

While the UCrit test continues to be a popular test used by physiologists and ecologists interested in fish exercise capabilities, researchers have modified the test over recent years (e.g., ramp-UCrit test — Jain et al., 1997). In particular, some researchers have challenged whether the UCrit test is valid, in part, because fish may never swim at their UCrit for an extended period under natural conditions (reviewed in Plaut, 2001). In addition, researchers have focused on the limitations of swim flumes (to measure UCrit)

#### Table 1

Brief summary of published research on various aspects of exhaustive exercise in fish.

Year Grouping	Topic Area	Representative References
1950s-1970s	Hematology and Lactate Dynamics	(Black, 1955, 1957a,b,c; Black et al., 1962, 1966)
	Training Effects	Hochachka (1961)
	Blood Flow Effects	Stevens (1968)
	Intermittent Exercise	Stevens and Black (1966)
1980s-2000s		
	Exercise Training	(Lackner et al., 1988; Pearson et al., 1990)
	Lactate releasers versus non-releasers	(Milligan and Wood, 1986a,b; Milligan and McDonald, 1988)
	Effects of abiotic and biotic factors on recovery	(Goolish, 1989; Dalla et al., 1989; Tang and Boutilier, 1991; Ferguson et al., 1993;
		Wilkie et al., 1996; McDonald et al., 1998; Kieffer, 2000 (review); Galloway and Kieffer, 2003;
		Clutterham et al., 2004)
	Role of gill in correcting acid base disturbances (models)	(Holeton et al., 1983; Milligan and Wood, 1986a; Wood, 1988; Kieffer and Tufts, 1996)
	Role of Hormones on recovery	(Milligan and Wood, 1986a,b; Wood et al., 1990; Pagnotta et al., 1994; Milligan, 1996 (review);
		Eros and Milligan, 1996; Milligan et al., 2000; Milligan, 2003;)
	Post-exercise oxygen consumption	(Scarabello et al., 1991; Scarabello et al., 1992; Lee et al., 2003)
	Integration of response (e.g., acid-base, ion, metabolite)	(Dobson and Hochachka, 1987; Wood, 1991 (review); Arthur et al., 1992; Schulte et al., 1992;
		Wang et al., 1994; Moyes and West, 1995 (review))
	Field Testing (catch and release angling)	(Booth et al., 1995; Kieffer et al., 1995; Wilkie et al., 1996; Suski et al., 2003)
	Metabolic Fuel use and Recovery	(Wang et al., 1994; Milligan, 1997; Richards et al., 2002)
	Cardiovascular Effects	Reviewed in Farrell, 2007
	Regulation of gas transport	(Milligan and Wood, 1987; Tufts et al., 1991)
	Link between behaviour and recovery	(Milligan et al., 2000; Farrell et al., 2001; Peake and Farrell, 2004 ; Suski et al., 2007;
		Clutterham et al., 2004; Lee-Jenkins et al., 2007)
	Applied Physiology and Conservation Physiology	Wikelski and Cooke (2006)

(reviewed in Plaut, 2001) and others have recently suggested that the capacity of fish to swim in a flume involves a large behavioural component (McFarlane and McDonald, 2002; Peake and Farrell, 2006; Peake, 2008) that could affect the final value for UCrit. Nelson et al. (2002) recently developed additional tests (e.g., sprint performance and acceleration tests) that may better reflect the diversity of fish swimming styles and how other types of swimming performance relate to UCrit; in particular, these tests emphasize the ecological and evolutionary implications of variance in aquatic locomotory performance. Also, swim flumes may constrain/confine fish when they are forced to maintain position against a water speed that is too high to be efficiently maintained using a steady locomotory gait, and too low to be held using an unsteady (i.e., burst and glide) type gait (for details, see Peake and Farrell, 2006; Tudorache et al., 2007, and Peake, 2008). Consequently, UCrit tests may underestimate the true swimming capacity of fish. Peake (2008) suggests that by focusing on gait transition and allowing fish to swim volitionally, the behavioral component may be reduced and proper swimming performance can be evaluated.

Although the physiological value of the UCrit test has been validated (i.e., they are repeatable among individuals, easy to conduct, the effects of abiotic and biotic factors can be assessed), some researchers suggest that the utility of the test may be compromised when one wishes to draw ecological or evolutionary inference (Reidy et al., 2000). Future work should address the relationship between fish behavior (e.g., gait transition) and swimming performance in fish. Work should also compare swimming capacity under conditions that are more natural and across populations (Hasler et al., 2009).

### 2. Physiology and biochemistry of exhaustive exercise in fish

With respect to swimming activity, fish swim mostly aerobically (i.e., sustained and prolonged swimming). Despite this general observation, much of our understanding of swimming metabolism has been the result of research done on burst, exhaustive exercise (Wood, 1991). Wood (1991) describes the common methods for producing exhaustion in fish.

Over the past 50 years, many important "benchmarks" have been established with respect to exhaustive exercise in fish. Early research by Black (see Table 1; Black, 1957a,b,c; Black et al., 1962) and Hochachka (1961) and their colleagues have helped identify the physiological response to exercise, the time course for recovery and the biochemical aspects of exhaustive exercise (see Wood, 1991, for a review). Several comprehensive reviews are published in this journal and elsewhere on the physiological and biochemical aspects of exhaustive exercise in fish (Wood and Perry, 1985; Wood, 1991; Moyes and West, 1995; Milligan, 1996; Kieffer, 2000). In particular, Wood (1991) and Milligan (1996) provide excellent accounts of the ion, acid-base, metabolic and hormonal effects of exhaustive exercise in fish. Selected examples and references are also included in Table 1.

Unlike aerobic exercise, the bulk of the work on exhaustive exercise in fish has taken place over the past 30 years; significant advances occurred in the 1980s, especially inter-specific research comparing high performance swimmers to sluggish fish (lactate non-releasers; Milligan and Wood 1986a,b). Focus of the 1990s was on intra-specific comparisons (variation), mechanisms of recovery and the importance of other less-studied metabolic fuels (i.e., lipids) on the physiological recovery process (see Table 1). During the current decade, research has focused on the connection between behavior and physiology (Gilmour et al., 2005). From a comparative perspective, most research on exhaustive exercise continues to utilize the salmonid model, but recent reviews on tuna (Arthur et al., 1992; Bernal et al., 2001), sharks (Bernal et al., 2001) and centrarchids (Kieffer and Cooke, 2009) have identified characteristics of exercise and recovery that extend beyond the salmonid model.

#### 3. 1950s and 1960s

Black's (1955) early research focused on hemoglobin dynamics in various species of fish, but his later work on post-exercise lactate dynamics in salmon may be considered his largest contribution to exercise physiology in fish (Black, 1957a,b,c; Stevens and Black, 1966). Black was among the first researchers to describe the pattern of lactate efflux from muscle into the blood of fish following strenuous/ exhaustive exercise. This work made it possible for others to: (i) "dissect" the rate limiting steps (reviewed in Wood, 1991; Milligan, 1996; Kieffer, 2000), (ii) study the mechanisms for lactate release (Milligan and Wood, 1986a,b; Wang et al, 1994), (iii) investigate how metabolic pathways are integrated (e.g., role of hormones, oxygen consumption; Wood and Perry, 1985; Schulte et al., 1992; Moyes and

West, 1995) and (iv) understand the metabolic fuel patterns during recovery from exercise (Wang et al., 1994; Richards et al., 2002). Black's early work also had a clear application; it was concerned with mortality in fish following exhaustion, a topic that has not yet been addressed fully (Wood et al., 1983; Kieffer et al., 2002). Recent work, largely based on Black's detailed studies, has focused on a new and exciting field of conservation physiology (see below).

Although research from the 1950s and 1960s focused largely on salmonids, the 1980s brought to the forefront other fish models. In particular, largemouth bass and species of flounder and sole became useful models, in large part due to the environments (e.g., saline vs. freshwater, stenotherms vs. eurytherms) these fish occupy. Despite this, comparative fish physiologists continue to utilize the salmonid model for exercise studies, and researchers should continue to find alternate fish models.

#### 4. 1980s and 1990s - an explosive period

The 1970s were a relatively quiet time for fish exhaustive exercise studies, but a significant amount of work during the 1980s (in particular) and 1990s began to investigate the mechanisms involved in the recovery process. Because the speed of recovery from exercise is slow in fish (Wood, 1991), many studies have examined the impact of abiotic and biotic factors on recovery processes (reviewed by Wood, 1991; Milligan, 1996; Kieffer, 2000).

#### 4.1. Exhaustive exercise: significant contributions

Both Wood's (see Wood, 1991) and Hochacka's (Dobson and Hochachka, 1987) labs became known for their work on exhaustive exercise physiology in fish during this time. Each lab had slightly different foci, but each uncovered interesting and relevant findings that were complementary. Wood's lab focused on lactate dynamics between ecologically different species of fish (flounder vs. trout; lactate non-releasers vs. releasers) and was interested in pH regulation and recovery of lactate (Milligan and Wood, 1986a,b). In addition, Wood's group investigated the role of catecholamines on the metabolic costs (e.g., EPOC) associated with recovery (e.g., Wood, 1991; Scarabello et al., 1991, 1992) and the importance of the kidney and gill in the removal of metabolic protons that accompanied exhaustive exercise (reviewed in Wood, 1988). Other major contributions by Wang et al. (1994) to exhaustive exercise include the mechanisms responsible for lactate and proton dynamics and the role of other fuels, such as lipids, involved in the exercise recovery process. Further work by Richards et al. (2002) supported earlier hypotheses (e.g., Wang et al., 1994) by showing that intra- and extra-muscular lipids are oxidized by the white muscle to fuel the generation of ATP, phoshocreatine and glycogen.

Among other areas of study, Hochachka's lab focused on the bioenergetics of exercise across a full range of biological levels (from enzymes, pathways, and mitochondria, to isolated muscle fibers, perfused hearts, and whole animals). Research focused on the many integrative mechanisms of biochemical control following exercise (Dobson and Hochachka, 1987; reviewed in Moyes and West, 1995).

A third significant contribution in the 1990s to fish exhaustive exercise physiology was the role of cortisol on the post-exercise recovery dynamics in fish. This work has uncovered important biological and practical aspects of exercise recovery in fish. In addition to advancing our understanding of the link between cortisol and recovery, Milligan and her collaborators (e.g., Milligan, 2003; Frolow and Milligan, 2004) adopted several novel techniques (e.g., use of membrane vesicles, pharmacological agents and radioactively labeled compounds) to address the movements of metabolites across the muscle membrane.

#### 4.2. Applied exercise physiology

During the 1990s a divergence of research related to exhaustive exercise in fish occurred. Several researchers began to focus on exercise-induced changes under more natural conditions, a trend that still is attributed to the earlier work of Black (e.g., Black, 1955), who was interested in post-exercise mortality. During the 1990s, researchers applied exercise theory to practical situations, such as commercial fishing and recreational angling. This type of work initially started in the 1980s, but the numbers of research papers began to peak during the 1990s and early 2000s. Some of the earliest work on catch and release focused on salmonids (Booth et al., 1995; Wilkie et al., 1996) but the mid-1990s and early 2000s introduced a relatively new model, the Centrarchidae (e.g., bass and sunfish; reviewed in Cooke et al., 2002; Kieffer and Cooke, 2009). The major contribution of many of these applied studies was to identify the importance of biotic (body size, stage of migration, exercise time) and abiotic (hypoxia, temperature) factors on post-exercise physiology (Table 1).

### 5. 2000 and beyond

While several controversial areas still exist (e.g., roles of cortisol and catecholamines; fate of lactate, metabolic changes during the exercise period), there appears to be a noticeable change in research direction. Current research is integrative, however, it focuses on the inter-relationships between behaviour and exercise. Traditionally, behaviour and physiology were two separate areas of study, with the majority of researchers focusing on one or the other. Recent work, some outlined below, demonstrates the growing interest in understanding the physiological mechanisms underlying various behaviours, such as swimming (Gilmour et al., 2005). Milligan (1996) represents one of the major landmark papers. Milligan (Milligan, 1996; Milligan et al., 2000) has been working on the effects of postexercise elevations of cortisol on the fate of lactate in fish. There is strong evidence that the elevation of plasma cortisol levels associated with the exhaustive exercise delays the restoration of metabolite and acid-base status to pre-exercise levels (Pagnotta et al., 1994; Eros and Milligan, 1996). Recently, Milligan et al. (2000) have made the connection between post-exercise aerobic swimming behaviour, cortisol levels and metabolic recovery in rainbow trout. Briefly, they found that fish allowed to swim aerobically during recovery from exhaustive exercise had lower cortisol levels and recovered their post-exercise lactate loads about 2 times faster than fish held in still water. These studies have been replicated for Pacific salmon (Farrell et al., 2001) and largemouth bass (Suski et al., 2007).

The research of Milligan et al. (2000) has triggered a number of recent studies which have assessed the importance of behaviour on the physiological response to exercise (Farrell et al., 2001; Peake and Farrell, 2006; Veiseth et al., 2006; Lee-Jenkins et al., 2007). Two notable examples include the work by Peake and Farrell (2006) and Lee-Jenkins et al. (2007). In their paper, Peake and Farrell (2006) emphasized the importance of assessing gait transitions (i.e., between steady and unsteady swimming behaviour) in understanding the metabolic fuel use patterns during high-speed swimming in fish. Lee-Jenkins et al. (2007) studied the recovery of locomotory activity in exhausted juvenile rainbow trout. The overall conclusions from this experiment shows that recovery processes are affected by ontogeny and/or size of fish, and thus, the reduction in burst swimming of juvenile trout makes younger/smaller fish more vulnerable to aquatic predators (Lee-Jenkins et al., 2007).

Critically assessing the relationship between behaviour and the post-exercise physiological response (at the individual and population level) requires the development of suitable physiological tools. Over the past 10–20 years, technology has provided researchers with numerous (albeit expensive) telemetry devices to track fish during

migration (Hinch et al., 1996; Cooke et al., 2004). Telemetry has enabled scientists to both track fish (e.g., where fish go) and estimate the energy budgets over time (e.g., during migration). This area of research is critical to our understanding of the physiological aspects of exercise, particularly under field conditions. Donaldson et al. (2008) reviews the current literature on the usefulness of utilizing biotelemetry for applied fisheries questions (e.g., catch and release).

#### 6. Where do we go from here?

Research from the last 50–60 years has moved forward the field of fish exercise physiology. There have been significant advances in the development of tools (e.g., swim flumes, telemetry equipment) and various methodologies to investigate the ion, acid-base and metabolite status of fish.

In many respects, researchers have only scratched the surface of our understanding of swimming capacities of fish. In particular, most work on exercise physiology in fish has been conducted on salmonids; other fish species, such as polar fish and tropical fish have largely been ignored. Research has now begun to investigate the molecular and genetic aspects of exercise in fish. This area will undoubtedly be popular as new fish models become available. Other cross-disciplinary approaches have included the impact of behaviour on the physiological response to exercise. These approaches will uncover multiple new and exciting research directions (Gilmour et al., 2005).

Much of our understanding about exercise in fish has resulted from experiments conducted under laboratory conditions. This approach is especially important if one is trying to uncover physiological mechanisms. Examining ecologically relevant scenarios (e.g., increases in temperature, CO<sub>2</sub>, salinity) has been the focus of more recent studies (see Portner and Farrell, 2008, for an example). Modern advances in gas measuring devices, behavior tracking software, and automated control (e.g., of gases, temperature) will allow laboratory researchers to better test hypotheses that focus on effects of climate change on exercise metabolism in fish. Advances in technology (e.g., telemetry) have allowed researchers to test hypotheses under field conditions. Using the combined laboratory and field based approaches will enable fish physiologists to increase their understanding of the effects of larger-scale environmental issues (see Portner and Farrell, 2008).

#### Acknowledgements

Thanks to all the members of the Canadian Society of Zoologists, and in particular, Chris Wood and Don Stevens, who I contacted while writing this article. A special thanks to the MADSAM fish group for their continued support.

#### References

- Arthur, P.G., West, T.G., Brill, R.W., Schulte, P.M., Hochachka, P.W., 1992. Recovery metabolism of skipjack tuna (*Katsuwonus pelamis*) white muscle: rapid and parallel changes on lactate and phosphocreatine after exercise. Can. J. Zool. 70, 1230–1239. Beamish, F.W.H., 1978. Swimming capacity. In: Hoar, S., Randall, D.I. (Eds.), Fish
- Physiology, vol. VII. Academic Press, Inc, New York, pp. 101–138. Bernal, D., Dickson, K.A., Shadwick, R.E., Graham, J.B., 2001. Analysis of the evolutionary
- convergence for high performance swimming in lamnid sharks and tunas. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 129, 695–726.
- Black, E.C., 1955. Blood levels of hemoglobin and lactate in some freshwater fishes following exercise. J. Fish Res. Bd. Can. 12, 917–929.
- Black, E.C., 1957a. Alterations in the blood level of lactic acid in certain salmonoid fishes following muscular activity. I. Kamloops trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. J. Fish Res. Bd. Can. 14, 117–134.
- Black, E.C., 1957b. Alterations in the blood level of lactic acid in certain salmonoid fishes following muscular activity. II. Lake trout, *Salvelinus namaycush*. J. Fish Res. Bd. Can. 14, 645–649.
- Black, E.C., 1957c. Alterations in the blood level of lactic acid in certain salmonoid fishes following muscular activity. III. Sockeye salmon, Oncorhynchus nerka. J. Fish Res. Bd. Can. 14, 807–814.
- Black, E.C., Connor, A.R., Lam, K.C., Chiu, W.G., 1962. Changes in glycogen, pyruvate and lactate in Rainbow Trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) during and following muscular activity. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada 19, 409–437.

- Black, E.C., Bosomworth, N.J., Docherty, G.E., 1966. Combined effects of starvation and severe exercise on glycogen metabolism of rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can. 23, 1461–1463.
- Blazka, P., Volf, M., Cepela, M., 1960. A new type of respirometer of the determination of the metabolism of fish in an active state. Physiol. Behemoslav. 9, 553–558.
- Booth, R., Kieffer, J.D., Bielak, A., Davidson, K., Tufts, B.L., 1995. Effects of late season catch and release angling on anaerobic metabolism, acid–base status, survival and gamete viability in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52, 283–290.
- Brett, J.R., 1964. The respiratory metabolism and swimming performance of young sockeye salmon. J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 21, 1183–1226.Brett, J.R., 1995. Energetics. In: Groot, C., Margolis, L., Clarke, W.C. (Eds.), Physiological
- Ecology of Pacific Salmon. UBC Press, Vancouver, Canada, pp. 3–68.
- Clutterham, S., Gamperl, A.K., Wallace, H.L., Crawshaw, L.I., Farrell, A.P., 2004. Exhaustive exercise does not affect the preferred temperature for recovery in juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 77, 611–618.
- Cooke, S.J., Schreer, J.F., Wahl, D.H., Philipp, D.P., 2002. Physiological impacts of catchand-release angling practices on largemouth bass and smallmouth bass. Black Bass 2000: ecology, conservation and management. Am. Fish. Soc. Symp. 31, 489–512.
- Cooke, S.J., Hinch, S.G., Wikelski, M., Andrews, R.D., Wolcott, T.G., Butler, P.J., 2004. Biotelemetry: a mechanistic approach to ecology, Trends Ecol. Evol. 19, 334–343.
- Dalla, Via J., Huber, M., Wieser, W., Lackner, R., 1989. Temperature-related responses of intermediary metabolism to forced exercise and recovery in juvenile *Rutilus rutilis* (L.) (Cyprinifae: Teleostei). Physiol. Zool. 62, 964–976.
- Davison, W., 1997. The effects of exercise training on teleost fish, a review of recent literature. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 117, 67–75.
- Dobson, G.P., Hochachka, P.W., 1987. Role of glycolysis in adenylate depletion and repletion during work and recovery in teleost white muscle. J. Exp. Biol. 129, 125–140. Donaldson, M.R., Arlinghaus, R., Hanson, K.C., Cooke, S.J., 2008. Enhancing catch-and-
- release science with biotelemetry. Fish and Fisheries 9, 79–105. Eros, S.K., Milligan, C.L., 1996. The effect of cortisol on recovery from exhaustive exercise
- in rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*): potential mechanisms of actions. Physiol. Zool. 69, 1196–1214.
- Farrell, A.P., 1996. Features heightening cardiovascular performance in fishes with special reference to tunas. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 113, 61–67.
- Farrell, A.P., 2007. Cardiovascular performance during prolonged swimming tests with salmonids: a perspective on temperature effects and potential analytical pitfalls. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B. 362, 2017–2030.
- Farrell, A.P., 2008. Comparisons of swimming performance in rainbow trout using constant acceleration and critical swimming speed tests. J. Fish Biol. 72, 693–710.
- Farrell, A.P., Gamperl, A.K., Birtwell, I.K., 1998. Prolonged swimming, recovery and repeat swimming performance of mature sockeye salmon Oncorhynchus nerka exposed to moderate hypoxia and pentachlorophenol. J. Exp. Biol. 201, 2183–2193.
- Farrell, A.P., Gallaugher, P.E., Fraser, J., Pike, D., Bowering, P., Hadwin, A.K.M., Parkhouse, W., Routledge, R., 2001. Successful recovery of the physiological status of coho salmon onboard a commercial gillnet vessel by means of a newly designed revival box. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58, 1932–1946.
- Ferguson, R.A., Kieffer, J.D., Tufts, B.L., 1993. The effects of body size on the acid-base and metabolite status in the white muscle of rainbow trout before and following exhaustive exercise. J. Exp. Biol. 180, 195–207.
- Frolow, J., Milligan, C.L., 2004. Hormonal regulation of glycogen metabolism in white muscle slices from rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). Am. J. Physiol. Reg. Integ. Comp. Physiol. 287, R1344–R1353.
- Fry, F. E. J. 1947. Effects of the environment on animal activity. University of Toronto Studies, Biological Series 55. Publication of the Ontario Fisheries Research Laboratory 68:1-62.
- Galloway, B.J., Kieffer, J.D., 2003. The effects of an acute temperature change on the metabolic recovery from exhaustive exercise in juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 76, 652–662.
- Gilmour, K.M., Wilson, R.W., Sloman, K.A., 2005. The integration of behaviour into comparative physiology. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 78, 669–678.
- Goolish, E.M., 1989. The scaling of aerobic and anaerobic muscle power in rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri. J. Exp. Biol. 147, 493–505.
- Hammer, C., 1995. Fatigue and exercise tests with fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 112, 1–20.
- Hasler, C.T., Suski, C.D., Hanson, K.C., Cooke, S.J., Tufts, B.L., 2009. Effect of water temperature on laboratory swimming performance and natural activity levels of adult largemouth bass. Can. J. Zool. 87, 589–596.
- Hinch, S.G., Diewert, R.E., Lissimore, T.J., Prince, A.M.J., Healey, M.C., Henderson, M.A., 1996. Use of electromyogram telemetry to assess difficult passage areas for rivermigrating adult sockeye salmon. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 125, 253–260.
- Hochachka, P.W., 1961. The effect of physical training on oxygen debt and glycogen reserves in trout. Can. J. Zool. 39, 767–776.
- Holeton, G.F., Neumann, P., Heisler, N., 1983. Branchial ion exchange and acid–base regulation after strenuous exercise in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Resp. Physiol. 51, 303–318.
- Jain, K.E., Hamilton, J.C., Farrell, A.P., 1997. Use of a ramped velocity test to measure critical swimming speed in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 117, 441–444.
- Jain, K.E., Birtwell, I.K., Farrell, A.P., 1998. Repeat swimming performance of mature sockeye salmon following a brief recovery period: a proposed measure of fish health and water quality. Can. J. Zool. 76, 1488–1496.
- Kieffer, J.D., 2000. Limits to exhaustive exercise in fish. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 126, 161–179.
- Kieffer, J.D., Cooke, S.J., 2009. Physiology and organismal performance of centrarchids. In: Cooke, S.J., Philipp, D.P. (Eds.), Centrarchid Fishes: diversity, biology and conservation. Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 207–263.

- Kieffer, J.D., Tufts, B.L., 1996. The influence of environmental temperature on the role of the rainbow trout gill in correcting the acid–base disturbance following exhaustive exercise. Physiol. Zool. 69, 1301–1323.
- Kieffer, J.D., Kubacki, M.R., Phelan, F.J.S., Philipp, D.P., Tufts, B.L., 1995. Effects of catch and release angling on nesting male smallmouth bass. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 124, 70–76.
- Kieffer, J.D., Rossiter, A.M., Kieffer, C.A., Davidson, K., Tufts, B.L., 2002. Physiology and survival of Atlantic salmon following exhaustive exercise in hard and soft water: implications for the catch-and-release sport-fishery. North Am. J Fish. Managmt. 22, 132–144.
- Kolok, A.S., 1992. The swimming performances of individual largemouth bass Micropterus salmoides are repeatable. J. Exp. Biol. 170, 265–270.
- Kolok, A.S., 1999. Interindividual variation in the prolonged locomotor performance of ectothermic vertebrates:a comparison of fish and herpetofaunal methodologies and a brief review of the recent fish literature. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56, 700–710. Lackner, R., Wieser, W., Huber, M., Dalla Via, J., 1988. Responses of intermediary
- Lackner, R., Wieser, W., Huber, M., Dalla Via, J., 1988. Responses of intermediary metabolism to acute handling stress and recovery in untrained and trained *Leucisus cephalus* (Cyprinidae, Teleostei). J. Exp. Biol. 140, 393–404.
- Lee, C.G., Farrell, A.P., Lotto, A., MacNutt, M.J., Hinch, S.G., Healey, M.C., 2003. The effect of temperature on swimming performance and oxygen consumption in adult sockeye (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) and coho (*O. kisutch*) salmon stocks. J. Exp. Biol. 206, 3239–3251.
- Lee-Jenkins, S.S., Binder, T.R., Karch, A.P., McDonald, D.G., 2007. The recovery of locomotory activity following exhaustive exercise in juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 80, 88–98.
- MacNutt, M.J., Hinch, S.G., Farrell, A.P., Topp, S., 2004. The effect of temperature and acclimation period on repeat swimming performance in cutthroat trout. J. Fish Biol. 65, 342–353.
- McDonald, D.G., McFarlane, W.J., Milligan, C.L., 1998. Anaerobic capacity and swim performance of juvenile salmonids. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55, 1198–1207.
- McFarlane, W.J., McDonald, D.G., 2002. Relating intramuscular fuel use to endurance in juvenile rainbow trout. Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 75, 250–259.
- McKenzie, D.J., Hale, M., Domenici, P., 2007. Locomotion in primitive fishes. In: McKenzie, D.J., Farrell, A.P., Brauner, C.J. (Eds.), Primitive fishes. Elsevier Publishers, Amsterdam, pp. 319–380.
- Milligan, C.L., 1996. Metabolic recovery from exhaustive exercise in rainbow trout. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 113, 51–60.
- Milligan, C.L., 1997. The role of cortisol in amino acid mobilization and metabolism following exhaustive exercise in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). Fish Physiol. Biochem. 16, 119–128.
- Milligan, C.L., 2003. A regulatory role for cortisol in muscle glycogen metabolism in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum. J. Exp. Biol. 206, 3167–3173.
- Milligan, C.L., McDonald, D.G., 1988. In vivo lactate kinetics at rest and during recovery from exhaustive exercise in coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) and starry flounder (*Platichthys stellatus*). J. Exp. Biol. 135, 119–131.
- Milligan, C.L., Wood, C.M., 1986a. Intracellular and extracellular acid-base status and H<sup>+</sup> exchange with the environment after exhaustive exercise in the rainbow trout. J. Exp. Biol. 123, 93–121.
- Milligan, C.L., Wood, C.M., 1986b. Tissue intracellular acid-base status and the fate of lactate after exhaustive exercise in the rainbow trout. J. Exp. Biol. 123, 123–144.
- Milligan, C.L., Wood, C.M., 1987. Regulation of blood oxygen transport and red cell pHi after exhaustive activity in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) and starry flounder (*Platichthys stellatus*). J. Exp. Biol. 133, 263–282.
- Milligan, C.L., Hooke, G.B., Johnson, C., 2000. Sustained swimming at low velocity following a bout of exhaustive exercise enhances metabolic recovery in rainbow trout. J. Exp. Biol. 203, 921–926.
- Moyes, C.D., West, T.G., 1995. Exercise metabolism of fish. In: Hochachka, P.W., Mommsen, T.P. (Eds.), Biochemistry and molecular biology of fishes. Vol. 4. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 367–392.
- Nelson, J.A., Gotwalt, P.S., Reidy, S.P., Webber, D.M., 2002. Beyond Ucrit: matching swimming performance tests to the physiological ecology of the animal including a new fish drag strip. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 133, 289–302.
- Pagnotta, A., Brooks, L., Milligan, C.L., 1994. Potential role of cortisol in the metabolic recovery of rainbow trout from exhaustive exercise. Can. J. Zool. 72, 2136–2146.
- Peake, S.J., 2004. Swimming and respiration. In: LeBreton, G.T.O., Beamish, F.W.H., McKinley, R.S. (Eds.), Sturgeons and Paddlefish of North America. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 147–166.
- Peake, S.J., 2008. Gait transition speed as an alternate measure of maximum aerobic capacity in fishes. J. Fish Biol. 72, 645–655.

- Peake, S.J., Farrell, A.P., 2004. Locomotory behaviour and post-exercise physiology in relation to swimming speed, gait transition and metabolism in free-swimming smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieu*). J. Exp. Biol. 207, 1563–1575.
- Peake, S.J., Farrell, A.P., 2006. Fatigue is a behavioural response in respirometer-confined smallmouth bass. J. Fish Biol. 68, 1742–1755.
- Pearson, M.P., Spriet, L.L., Stevens, E.D., 1990. Effect of spring training on swim performance and white muscle metaboism during exercise and recovery in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). J. Exp. Biol. 149, 45–60.
- Plaut, I., 2001. Critical swimming speed: its ecological relevance. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 131, 41–50.
- Portner, H.O., Farrell, A.P., 2008. Physiology and climate change. Science 31, 690–692. Randall, D., Brauner, C., 1991. Effects of environmental factors on exercise in fish. J. Exp. Biol. 160. 113–126.
- Reidy, S.P., Kerr, S.R., Nelson, J.A., 2000. Aerobic and anaerobic swimming performance of individual Atlantic cod J. Exp. Biol. 203, 347–357
- of individual Atlantic cod. J. Exp. Biol. 203, 347–357. Richards, J.G., Heigenhauser, G.J.F., Wood, C.M., 2002. Lipid oxidation fuels recovery from exhaustive exercise in white muscle of rainbow trout. Am. J. Physiol. 282, R89–R99.
- Scarabello, M., Heigenhauser, G.J., Wood, C.M., 1991. The oxygen debt hypothesis in juvenile rainbow trout after exhaustive exercise. Resp. Physiol. 84, 245–259.
- Scarabello, M., Heigenhauser, G.J.F., Wood, C.M., 1992. Gas exchange, metabolic status and excess post-exercise oxygen consumption after repetitive bouts of exhaustive exercise in juvenile rainbow trout. J. Exp. Biol. 167, 155–169.
- Schulte, P.M., Moyes, C.D., Hochachka, P.W., 1992. Integrating metabolic pathways in post-exercise recovery of white muscle. J. Exp. Biol. 166, 181–195.
- Stevens, E.D., 1968. The effect of exercise on the distribution of blood to various organs in rainbow trout. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 25, 615–625.
- Stevens, E.D., Black, E.C., 1966. The effect of intermittent exercise on carbohydrate metabolism in rainbow trout. Salmo gairdneri. J. Fish. Res. Bd Can. 33, 471–485.
- Suski, C.D., Killen, S.S., Morrissey, M., Lund, S.G., Tufts, B.L., 2003. Physiological changes in largemouth bass caused by live-release angling tournaments in southeastern Ontario. N. Am. J. Fish. Managemt. 23, 760–769.
- Suski, C.D., Cooke, S.J., Tufts, B.L., 2007. Failure of low-velocity swimming to enhance recovery from exhaustive exercise in largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*). Physiol. Biochem. Zool. 80, 78–87.
- Tang, Y., Boutilier, R.G., 1991. White muscle intracellular acid–base and lactate status following exhaustive exercise: a comparison between freshwater and seawater adapted rainbow trout. J. Exp. Biol. 156, 153–171.
- Tudorache, C., Viaenen, P., Blust, R., de Boeck, G., 2007. Longer flumes increase critical swimming speeds by increasing burst–glide swimming duration in carp Cyprinus carpio. L. J. Fish. Biol. 71, 1630–1638.
- Tufts, B.L., Tang, Y., Tufts, K., Boutilier, R.G., 1991. Exhaustive exercise in "wild" Atlantic salmon, (*Salmo salar*): Acid-base regulation and blood–gas transport. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48, 868–874.
- Veiseth, E., Fjæra, S.O., Bjerkeng, B., Skjervold, P.O., 2006. Accelerated recovery of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) from effects of crowding by swimming. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 144, 351–358.
- Wang, Y., Heigenhauser, G.J.F., Wood, C.M., 1994. Integrated responses to exhaustive exercise and recovery in rainbow trout white muscle: acid-base, phosphogen, carbohydrate, lipid, ammonia, fluid volume and electrolyte metabolism. J. Exp. Biol. 195, 227–258.
- Wikelski, M., Cooke, S.J., 2006. Conservation Physiology. Trends in Ecol. Evol. 21, 38-46.
- Wilkie, M.P., Davidson, K., Brobbel, M.A., Kieffer, J.D., Booth, R.K., Bielak, A., Tufts, B.L., 1996. Physiology and survival of wild Atlantic salmon following angling in warm summer waters. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 125, 572–580.
- Wood, C.M., 1988. Acid-base and ionic exchanges at gills and kidney after exhaustive exercise in the rainbow trout. J. Exp. Biol. 146, 461–481.
- Wood, C.M., 1991. Acid-base and ion balance, metabolism, and their interactions, after exhaustive exercise in fish. J. Exp. Biol. 160, 285–308.
- Wood, C.M., Perry, S.F., 1985. Respiratory, circulatory, and metabolic adjustments to exercise in fish. In: Gilles, R. (Ed.), Circulation, Respiration and Metabolism (Proceedings in Life Sciences), pp. 2–22.
- Wood, C.M., Turner, J.D., Graham, M.S., 1983. Why do fish die after severe exercise? J. Fish. Biol. 22, 189–201.
- Wood, C.M., Walsh, P.J., Thomas, S., Perry, S.F., 1990. Control of red blood cell metabolism in rainbow trout after exhaustive exercise. J. Exp. Biol. 154, 491–507.